KIEP Working Paper 08-06

# KOREA INSTITUTE FOR

**Real Exchange Rate Dynamics in the Presence** of Nontraded Goods and Transaction Costs

Inkoo Lee and Jonghyup Shin



KIEP Working Paper 08-06

## Real Exchange Rate Dynamics in the Presence of Nontraded Goods and Transaction Costs

Inkoo Lee and Jonghyup Shin



### KOREA INSTITUTE FOR INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC POLICY (KIEP)

108 Yangjaedaero, Seocho-Gu, Seoul 137-747, Korea Tel: (822) 3460-1178 Fax: (822) 3460-1144 URL: http://www.kiep.go.kr

Wook Chae, President

KIEP Working Paper 08-06 Published October, 21 2008 in Korea by KIEP © 2008 KIEP

#### **Executive Summary**

The Purchasing Price Parity states that international relative price differentials should be arbitraged away so that identical goods in different countries should sell for the same price, when expressed in a common currency. Yet the evidence from the empirical literature shows that not only are relative prices quite different across countries, but also such deviations are highly volatile and persistent. These characteristics of the real exchange rate have been the central puzzle in international macroeconomics literature, with the source of the puzzling behavior remaining unclear.

In this paper, we study the role of transaction costs and nontraded goods to account for the puzzling behavior of the real exchange rate. In particular, we develop a simple general equilibrium model and evaluate the quantitative performance of the model in replicating the dynamic properties of the real exchange rate. The simulation results show that introducing both the transaction costs and nontraded goods in an otherwise standard model dramatically improve its ability to rationalize observed real exchange rate dynamic properties. The benchmark model matches 95% of the persistence and 90% of the volatility of the real exchange rate. In addition, the sensitivity analysis shows that our model can rationalize more than 97% of both persistence and volatility of the real exchange rate.

Our analysis suggests that the purchasing price parity puzzle can

naturally arise in the presence of transaction costs and nontraded goods, even under the assumption of a flexible price market.

# Keywords: Real exchange rate, persistence, volatility, nontraded goods, transaction costs

JEL classification: F31, F41, F47

## 국문요약

현대 국제거시경제학 모형의 기본적 가정인 law of one price와 purchasing power parity는 국가별 상대가격의 격차가 시차를 거치며 축소될 것으로 가정하고 있다. 하지만 실제로는 실질환율, 즉 국가간 상대가격의 격차가 매우 지속적(persistent)일 뿐만 아나라 변동적(volatile)으로 움직이는 것으로 관찰된다. 따라서 기존의 국제거시모형은 실질환율의 동태적인 지속성과 변동성을 동시에 설명하지 못하는 한계를 지니고 있다. 본 연구에서는 비교역재와 거래비용을 고려한 일반균형 모형을 발전시키고 이로부터 실질환율의 동태적 움직임을 설명하고자 한다. 시뮬레이션 결과에 따르면 본 모형은 실질환율 지속성의 95%, 변동성의 90% 이상을 설명할 수 있는 것으로 나타난다. 이러한 결과는 가격경직성을 가정하지 않더라도 비교역재와 거래비용이 존재하는 한 실질환율의 지속성과 변동성이 유지된다는 사실을 의미한다. **Inkoo Lee** is a research fellow at Korea Institute for International Economic Polcy (KIEP). He received his PhD in Economics at Vanderbilt University. His areas of interest include international finance, international business cycles, and econometrics. His most recent publications include "Goods Market Arbitrage and Real Exchange Rate Volatility" (*Journal of Macroeconomics*, 2008) and "Financial Liberalization, Crises, and Economic Growth" (with Jonghyup Shin, *Asian Economic Papers*, 2008).

Jonghyup Shin is a research fellow at Korea Insurance Research Institute (KIRI). He earned his PhD in Economics at University of Rochester. His areas of interest include macroeconomics, international finance, and econometrics. His most recent publications include "Financial Liberalization, Crises, and Economic Growth" (with Inkoo Lee, *Asian Economic Papers*, 2008) and "Welfare Implications of Alternative Monetary Policy Regimes with Endogenous Pass-Through" (2007).

#### 이인구(李麟求)

서강대학교 경제학과 졸업 미국 Vanderbilt University 경제학 박사 대외경제정책연구원 부연구위원(現, E-mail: iklee@kiep.go.kr)

### 저서 및 논문

"Goods Market Arbitrage and Real Exchange Rate Volatility" (Journal of Macroeconomics, Vol. 30, 2008)

"Financial Liberalization, Crises, and Economic Growth" (with Jonghyup Shin, *Asian Economic Papers*, Vol. 7, 2008).

"Understanding International Price Dispersion" (with Mario J. Crucini, 2008).

### 신종협(申宗協)

서강대학교 경제학과 졸업 미국 University of Rochester 경제학 박사 보험연구원 부연구위원(現, E-mail: jhshin@kiri.or.kr)

#### 저서 및 논문

"Welfare Implications of Alternative Monetary Policy Regimes with Endogenous Pass-Through" (2007)

"Purchasing Power Parity is More Puzzling Than You Thought" (2007) "Financial Liberalization, Crises, and Economic Growth" (with Inkoo Lee, *Asian Economic Papers*, Vol. 7, 2008).

## Contents

Abstract	9
I. Introduction	11
II. The Model	13
1. The Economic Environment	13
2. The Relative Prices of the Traded and Nontraded Goods	15
3. The Real Exchange Rate	16
III. Quantitative Evaluation	19
1. Calibration	19
2. The Results	22
3. Sensitivity Analysis	23
IV. Conclusions	26
References	28
Appendix	30

## Real Exchange Rate Dynamics in the Presence of Nontraded Goods and Transaction Costs

Inkoo Lee1 and Jonghyup Shin2

## Abstract

This paper studies the role of nontraded goods and transaction costs in accounting for the puzzling behavior of the real exchange rate. In particular, we develop a simple general equilibrium model and evaluate the quantitative performance of the model in replicating the dynamic properties of the real exchange rate.

The simulation results show that introducing both the transaction costs and nontraded goods in an otherwise standard model dramatically improve its ability to rationalize observed real exchange rate dynamic properties. The benchmark model matches 95% of the persistence and 90% of the volatility of the real exchange rate. In addition, the sensitivity analysis shows that our model can rationalize more than 97% of both persistence and volatility of the real exchange rate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Korea Institute for International Economic Policy (KIEP), 108 Yangjaedaero, Seocho-Gu, Seoul 137-747, Korea. Tel: +82 2 3460 1153; Fax: +82 2 3460 1066; E-mail: iklee@kiep.go.kr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Korea Insurance Research Institute (KIRI), 35-4 Yoido-dong Youngdeungpo-gu, Seoul 156-600, Korea. Tel: +82 2 368 4428; Fax: +82 2 368 4044; E-mail: jhshin@kiri.or.kr.

Our analysis suggests that the purchasing price parity puzzle can naturally arise in the presence of transaction costs and nontraded goods, even under the assumption of a flexible price market.

## I. Introduction

Obstfeld and Rogoff (2000) advanced the hypothesis that trade costs in goods markets in an otherwise neoclassical and competitive environment could resolve the six major puzzles in international macroeconomics, with two exceptions. The exceptions were the purchasing power parity puzzle and the exchange rate disconnect puzzle. They claimed that accounting for these two puzzles would require additional frictions: "among other things, elements of monopoly and sticky nominal prices for goods and labor."

In this paper, we offer an alternative explanation of not only the puzzling facts that motivated Obstfeld and Rogoff to chart the course of the New Open Economy Models paradigm, but an explanation that also attempts to capture the time series behavior of real exchange rate. In doing so, we impose empirical discipline on the model based on its micro foundations and leave the macroeconomic implications to be determined endogenously.

The essence of our story is the recognition that consumers purchase bundles of commodities and services, not individual commodities. This is what retail markets offer. Some bundles are simple, such as bananas sold at a grocery store, while others are rather complex, such as the 30,000-mile warranty that comes with the purchase of a Honda Accord at a local car dealership. Our focus is on the distinctions between local goods and traded goods, and on the role of the transaction costs. We assume that traded goods fluctuate in price, but their relative prices are bound above and below international arbitrage costs. The supply of local goods and their prices are basically determined locally. We explicitly rule out any role for monopoly power or price stickiness to focus on the channels we wish to emphasize.

We adopt a simple two-country-endowment model that does not rely on price stickiness, market incompleteness, or wage stickiness. The results, however, on average, accord very well with the statistics obtained from the data. Using the same value for risk aversion as Chari et al. (2002) with iceberg-type transaction costs, we match almost exactly the persistence of the real exchange rate and explain more than 90% of the volatility, on average.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. We begin in Section 2 by describing the model that extends the stochastic trade arbitrage model by Sercu et al. (1995). In Section 3, we use the model as a quantitative laboratory to explore its implications for the dynamic properties of the real exchange rate, restricting our attention to the case of real endowment shocks. Section 4 concludes the paper.

## II. The Model

The model has three basic building blocks: (i) all items are perishable; (ii) the supply of each perishable good in each location is exogenous and random; and (iii) trade is subject to costs of the iceberg variety.

#### 1. The Economic Environment

We make two assumptions regarding consumer preferences to keep things tractable. First, utility function is separable across time and goods. The reason we maintain separability across time and goods is that, when combined with perishability of endowments, it allows us to describe the arbitrage conditions on a period-by-period and good-bygood basis. The second assumption we make about preferences is that the level of the endowment of the nontraded good in a particular location enhances the utility of the traded good that is consumed in that location. This is the only device we have come up with that allows us to preserve the desirable empirical implications of the partial equilibrium retail model employed by Crucini et al. (2005) in a general equilibrium setting. There are plausible stories one can tell to justify the assumption: it has the favor of the non-rivalry assumption, a pure public good, or a utility valuation of location that has spillovers for the utility consumers attain for other goods and services.

Getting to the particulars, our consumers have preferences given by:

(1) 
$$E_0 \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t U(c_{jt}, z_{jt}) = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \frac{(z_{jt}^{\alpha} c_{jt}^{1-\alpha})^{1-\alpha}}{1-\sigma}$$

where  $z_j$  is the endowment of the nontraded good in location *j*, and  $c_j$  is the consumption of the traded good in location *j*. We fix the number of locations at two and work with bilateral relationships across locations *j* and *k*.

The model is solved as a social planning problem:

- -

(2)  $\max_{\{x_{jt}, x_{kt}\}} E_0(U(c_{jt}, z_{jt}) + U(c_{kt}, z_{kt}))$ 

such that

(2a) 
$$c_{jt} = y_{jt} - x_{jt} + \frac{x_{kt}}{1 + \tau}$$
  
(2b)  $c_{kt} = y_{kt} - x_{kt} + \frac{x_{jt}}{1 + \tau}$   
(2c)  $0 \le x_{jt} \le y_{jt}$   
(2d)  $0 \le x_{kt} \le y_{kt}$   
(2e)  $0 \le z_{jt}$   
(2f)  $0 \le z_{kt}$ 

where  $x_j$  is the exports of the good from location j to k, and  $x_k/1 + \tau$  is the imports of the good from location k to location j. The appearance of the transaction cost factor in the denominator of the import flow is the essence of the iceberg cost assumption: proportion of the physical shipment of the traded good is lost in transit.  $y_j$  is the endowment of the traded good in location j.

The implication of the model for real exchange rates is easily described by describing the determination of the relative prices of the traded and nontraded goods prices. It is important to keep in mind that the planner is choosing the amount of trade  $(x_{jt}, x_{kt})$  that determines the amount of consumption  $(c_{jt}, c_{kt})$ , given the endowment  $(y_{jt}, y_{kt})$ .  $z_{jt}$  are exogenous supplies of nontraded goods that serve effectively as taste shocks.

#### 2. The Relative Prices of the Traded and Nontraded Goods

From the first order conditions, the equilibrium values of the relative price of the traded  $good(q_{jk}^T)$  are given by

$$(3) \quad q_{ijk}^{T} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{1+\tau} & \text{if} \quad \left(\frac{y_{k}}{y_{j}}\right)^{a} \left(\frac{z_{k}}{z_{j}}\right)^{b} < \frac{1}{1+\tau} \\ \left(\frac{y_{k}}{y_{j}}\right)^{a} \left(\frac{z_{k}}{z_{j}}\right)^{b} & \text{otherwise} \\ 1+\tau & \text{if} \quad \left(\frac{y_{k}}{y_{j}}\right)^{a} \left(\frac{z_{k}}{z_{j}}\right)^{b} > 1+\tau \end{cases}$$

where  $a = \sigma(1 - \alpha) + \alpha$  and  $b = \alpha(\sigma - 1)$ . We suppress the time subscript, because these conditions apply period-by-period.

In the first (third) row location j exports (imports), and in the middle row the regions do not trade because the gains from trade due

to diverse endowments are not sufficiently large to compensate for the loss due to transaction cost.

The equilibrium values of the relative price of the nontraded good are given by:

$$(4) \quad q_{ijk}^{NT} = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{1}{1+\tau}\right)^{\frac{a-1}{a}} \left(\frac{z_k}{z_j}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{a}} & \text{if } \left(\frac{y_k}{y_j}\right)^a \left(\frac{z_k}{z_j}\right)^b < \frac{1}{1+\tau} \\ \left(\frac{y_k}{y_j}\right)^{a-1} \left(\frac{z_k}{z_j}\right)^{b+1} & \text{otherwise} \\ \left(1+\tau\right)^{\frac{a-1}{a}} \left(\frac{z_k}{z_j}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{a}} & \text{if } \left(\frac{y_k}{y_j}\right)^a \left(\frac{z_k}{z_j}\right)^b > 1+\tau \end{cases}$$

#### 3. The Real Exchange Rate

The real exchange rate is determined as a relative price of the composite price index between locations. Assuming a common level of risk aversion and expenditure share across countries, the resulting real exchange rate is a Cobb-Douglas aggregate of the traded and nontraded relative prices as follows:

$$(5) \quad q_{ijk} = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{1}{1+\tau}\right)^{\frac{a-\alpha}{a}} \left(\frac{z_k}{z_j}\right)^{\frac{a\sigma}{a}} & if \quad \left(\frac{y_k}{y_j}\right)^a \left(\frac{z_k}{z_j}\right)^b < \frac{1}{1+\tau} \\ \left(\frac{y_k}{y_j}\right)^{a-\alpha} \left(\frac{z_k}{z_j}\right)^{b+\alpha} & otherwise \\ \left(1+\tau\right)^{\frac{a-\alpha}{a}} \left(\frac{z_k}{z_j}\right)^{\frac{\alpha\sigma}{a}} & if \quad \left(\frac{y_k}{y_j}\right)^a \left(\frac{z_k}{z_j}\right)^b > 1+\tau \end{cases}$$

Equation (5) shows that the dynamic behavior of this model hinges on three key features: (i) transaction cost for the traded good; (ii) endowment ratio of the traded good; and (iii) endowment ratio of the nontraded good. The transaction cost and endowment ratio drive a natural wedge between relative prices in different locations, leading to deviations from the law of one price for the traded good. More specifically, there are three possible trade and price pairings. First, when the endowment ratio is sufficiently close across countries that the gains from trade are not large enough to offset the transaction cost, there will be a no-trade equilibrium. Second, when the home endowment is sufficiently large relative to the foreign endowment, goods flow from the home country to the foreign country, and the price in the home country is  $\tau$  less than the foreign price. Third, when the foreign endowment is sufficiently large relative to the home endowment, goods flow from the foreign country to the home country, and the price in the home country is  $\tau$  greater than the foreign price

The movements of the nontraded input augment the threshold

generated by transaction cost and trade patterns, and affect the deviations in the real exchange rate through a difference in the aggregate price index of each country.

## **III.** Quantitative Evaluation

#### 1. Calibration

Having specified the model, we shall now turn to the quantitative evaluation of its properties. More specifically, we examine whether our model can account for the observed movements in real exchange rates. In conducting our experiments, the specifics depend on the choice of parameters.

With the functional form of preferences,  $\frac{(z_{jt}^{\alpha}c_{jt}^{1-\alpha})^{1-\alpha}}{1-\sigma}$ , the curvature properties of the utility function are determined by the intertemporal substitution parameter ( $\sigma$ ) and the expenditure share of non-traded good ( $\alpha$ ). We set the first parameter ( $\alpha$ ) equal to 5, as suggested by Chari et al. (2002). The expenditure share on the nontraded sector is obtained from US Bureau of Labor Statistics and set to 0.7.<sup>3</sup>

Turning to the transaction cost, the most natural measure from a theoretical point of view is the difference between imports evaluated at price which include freight and insurance (c.i.f.) and exports evaluated free on board (f.o.b.). In principle this could be estimated from import and export unit values defined as the ratio of nominal value to physical quantity imported. For example, Hummels (2001) estimates trade costs based on direct measurement of the freight rate, which is defined as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The expenditure share on the nontraded sector in the US does not vary much, ranging between 69.0% and 71.6% during 1989–2006. The nontraded sector includes housing, insurance and pension, vehicle-related service costs, health, entertainment, education, etc.

the ratio of transportation expenditure to the value of imports exclusive of freight and insurance charges. The all-commodities tradeweighted average freight rate ranges from 3.8% for the US to 13.3% for Paraguay. Across commodities in the US, the freight rate ranges from a low of 0.9% for transport equipment to a high of 27% for crude fertilizer. In their extensive survey of the measurement of trade costs, Anderson and van Wincoop (2004) show that the 170% of "representative" trade costs in industrialized countries breaks down into 21% of transportation costs, 44% of border-related trade barriers, and 55% of retail and wholesale distribution costs. Burstein et al. show that distribution costs for Canada, Germany, and UK amount to 41.2%, 41.5%, and 45.4%, respectively, which are similar to those for the US (43.4%). We consider the transaction cost as a transport cost, and choose 0.1 as a benchmark case.

The propagation mechanism for the shocks is described as by the following process:

(6)  $y_{t+1} = \Pi^{y} y_{t} + \Psi_{t}^{y}$ (7)  $z_{t+1} = \Pi^{z} z_{t} + \Psi_{t}^{z}$ 

where  $y = [\ln(y_k), \ln(y_j)]'$  and  $z = [\ln(z_k), \ln(z_j)]'$ .  $\Pi^y$  and  $\Pi^z$  are the matrices of coefficients, and  $\Psi^y$  and  $\Psi^z$  are the vectors of mean zero normal random variables with the contemporaneous variance-covariance matrix given by  $\Sigma^y$  and  $\Sigma^z$ , corresponding to the innovations to endowment shocks for traded goods and non-traded goods, respectively.

(8) 
$$\Pi^{y} = \begin{pmatrix} \pi_{11}^{y} & \pi_{12}^{y} \\ \pi_{21}^{y} & \pi_{22}^{y} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Sigma^{y} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{11}^{y} & \sigma_{12}^{y} \\ \sigma_{21}^{y} & \sigma_{22}^{y} \end{pmatrix}$$
  
(9) 
$$\Pi^{z} = \begin{pmatrix} \pi_{11}^{z} & \pi_{12}^{z} \\ \pi_{21}^{z} & \pi_{22}^{z} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Sigma^{y} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{11}^{z} & \sigma_{12}^{z} \\ \sigma_{21}^{z} & \sigma_{22}^{z} \end{pmatrix}$$

We use these autocorrelation coefficients and variance-covariance matrices to generate the traded and nontraded endowments, and then simulate the real exchange rates based on equation (5). To avoid the initial value problem, we generate 5,000 observations for the real exchange rate, discard the first 1,000 values, and choose the final 4,000 periods of simulated data for analysis. We calibrate the stochastic process of the traded (total manufacturing) and nontraded (total service) endowments for 12 OECD countries using the OECD Structural Analysis Database.<sup>4</sup>

While we view our baseline parameterization as a plausible benchmark, there is substantial uncertainty about individual parameter values. For this reason we run numerous experiments to test the sensitivity of the model.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In the STAN 2003 database, 14 countries are available for the sectoral output data during 1970– 2000 that is required to generate real exchange rates in the simulation. The real exchange rate in Italy, however, is too volatile (almost ten times more volatile than that of other countries), and the persistence of the real exchange rate in the Netherlands is too low (almost half of the average of other countries). Therefore, we exclude these two outliers from the sample.

#### 2. The Results

We now evaluate the performance of the model in matching the time series properties of the observed data. To do this, we examine the ability of the model to match key moments in the data, that is, the volatility and persistence of the real exchange rates. We measure the persistence and volatility by standard deviation and autocorrelation coefficient of the AR(1), respectively.

Regarding the data, we estimate the persistence and volatility of the (log) real exchange rates for 12 OECD countries against the US using an AR(1) process without a constant term.<sup>5</sup> Here, HP filtered real exchange rates are used because we are interested in the business cycle properties of the exchange rates. The volatility of the real exchange rate in the observed data ranges from a low of 0.058 for Canada to a high of 0.139 for Belgium, with the average value being 0.107. The persistence ranges from a low of 0.595 for Australia to a high of 0.775 for Canada, with the average value being 0.656.

Table 2 describes the dynamics of the real exchange rate observed in the data in the model without nontraded goods, and in the benchmark model ( $\alpha = 0.7$ ,  $\tau = 0.1$ ,  $\sigma = 5$ ). As shown in the fourth and fifth columns, when the nontraded good does not exist ( $\alpha = 0$ ), the model performs very poorly in matching the moments of the real exchange rate. However, as is evident from the last two columns, introducing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The simulation results from the AR process with a constant term are rarely different from those from the AR process without a constant term.

both the transaction cost and nontraded good in an otherwise standard model dramatically improve its ability to rationalize observed real exchange rate dynamics. We see that the benchmark produces substantial volatility (0.069–0.155) and persistence (0.486–0.784), which are close to those in the data. The benchmark model, on average, matches 95% of the persistence and 90% of the volatility of the real exchange rate. Across the countries, the benchmark model performs well in replicating the dynamic properties for Australia, Finland, Greece, and the UK, while it does relatively poorly for Canada, Denmark, France, and Sweden.

Considering the simplicity of the model, we can arguably say that the model shows exceptional performance in explaining the dynamic properties of the real exchange rate. For example, Chari et al. (2002) relies heavily on price stickiness to get the appropriate volatility of the real exchange rate, but their model can explain only 75% of the persistence. As Chari et al. point out, the intertemporal substitution parameter ( $\sigma$ ) plays a critical role in generating the proper volatility in the real exchange rate, but they still lack the ability to match the right persistence. We use the same intertemporal substitution parameter value as in Chari et al., and it turns out that introducing the transaction cost and nontraded good in the model substantially improves its ability to explain the puzzling behavior of the real exchange rate.

#### 3. Sensitivity Analysis

There are four parameters in the model: risk aversion  $\sigma$  (inverse

of intertemporal elasticity of substitution), transaction cost  $\tau$ , and the expenditure share on nontraded good  $\alpha$ . The intertemporal substitution parameter affects the curvature of the utility function and determines the level of risk aversion. The transaction cost affects the size of the fixed limit of arbitrage for the traded good.

The simulation results for various risk aversion values are presented in Table 3. The upper panel shows the sensitivity analysis for the volatility, and the lower panel provides the results for the persistence. As risk aversion increases (as intertemporal elasticity of substitution decreases), the volatility of the real exchange rate in each country also increases. Note that the volatility is a concave function of the risk aversion parameter. The average volatility increases by 0.024 when  $\sigma$ rises from 3 to 5, while it increases by only 0.014 when  $\sigma$  changes from 5 to 7. This implies that a risk aversion parameter of around 6.5 is the most fitting value for matching the volatility with the data. On the other hand, the persistence of the real exchange rate tends to decrease in the risk aversion. It is a convex function of the risk aversion parameter, but the curvature is less steep than that of the volatility function. The persistence matches better with the data when  $\sigma = 3$ (0.627). Therefore, there is a conflict between volatility and persistence as we try to match these values with the observed data. This is why most theoretical models fail to account for empirical evidence related to high volatility and high persistence of the real exchange rate.

Since the volatility responds to the risk aversion in a way opposite to that of the persistence, we contemplate the mechanism behind this phenomenon intuitively. As risk aversion increases, intertemporal elasticity of substitution decreases in a typical CRRA utility function. So the higher  $\sigma$  is, the larger relative prices change when agents alter their consumption plans over time. That is, the agents confront with more difficulty in smoothing consumption over time as the intertemporal elasticity of substitution gets smaller. Hence, less substitutability leads to higher volatility of relative prices. On the other hand, as volatility increases in  $\sigma$ , the possibility for the real exchange rate to hit the upper or lower bounds of the band also increases. As a result, the persistence moves in a direction opposite to that of the volatility when  $\sigma$  changes.

We also vary transaction costs between 0.1 and 0.5 and show the results in Table 4. We consider  $\tau = 0.1$  as a benchmark, but it also may be reasonable to define a transaction cost as a combination of the transport cost and distribution cost as emphasized by Burstein et al. (2003). The result shows that real exchange rate volatility increases as transaction cost rises. This is because, when other things remain constant, higher transaction cost makes goods less likely to be arbitraged and therefore increases the extent of exchange rate fluctuations.

Lastly, both volatility and persistence of the real exchange rate increase as the expenditure share on the nontraded good rises. Table 5 shows that when  $\alpha$  equals 0.8, the model, on average, matches as much as 99% of the persistence and 97% of the volatility of the real exchange rate. Again, this represents the importance of the nontraded goods in accounting for dynamic properties of the real exchange rate.

## **IV. Conclusions**

The Purchasing Price Parity states that international relative price differentials should be arbitraged away so that identical goods in different countries should sell for the same price, when expressed in a common currency. Yet the evidence from the empirical literature shows that not only are relative prices quite different across countries, but such deviations are highly volatile and persistent. These characteristics of the real exchange rate have been the central puzzle in international macroeconomics literature, with the source of the puzzling behavior remaining unclear.

In this paper, we study the role of transaction cost and nontraded goods to account for the puzzling behavior of the real exchange rate. In particular, we develop a simple general equilibrium model in the presence of transaction cost and nontraded good and evaluate the quantitative performance of the model in replicating the dynamic properties of the real exchange rate. The simulation results show that introducing both the transaction cost and nontraded good in an otherwise standard model dramatically improves its ability to rationalize observed real exchange rate dynamic properties. The benchmark model matches 95% of the persistence and 90% of the volatility of the real exchange rate. In addition, the sensitivity analysis shows that our model can rationalize more than 97% of both persistence and volatility of the real exchange rate. Our analysis suggests that the purchasing price parity puzzle can naturally arise in the presence of transaction cost and nontraded goods, even under the assumption of a flexible price market.

## References

- Betts, Caroline and Michael B. Devereux. 2000. "Exchange Rate Dynamics in a Model of Pricing-to-Market." Journal of International Economics, vol. 50, pp. 215–244.
- Betts, Caroline and Timothy J. Kehoe. 2001. "Tradability of Goods and Real Exchange Rate Fluctuations." Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis Research Department Staff Report. (March)
- Burstein, Ariel T., Joao C. Neves, and Sergio Rebelo. 2003. "Distribution Costs and Real Exchange Rate Dynamics during Exchange-Rate-Based Stabilizations." Journal of Monetary Economics, vol. 50, pp. 1189–1214
- Chari, V., Patrick Kehoe, and Ellen McGratten. 2002. "Can Sticky Price Models Generate Volatile and Persistent Real Exchange Rates?" Review of Economic Studies, vol. 69, pp. 533–563.
- Crucini, Mario J. and Mototsugu Shintani. 2008. "Persistence in Lawof-One-Price Deviations: Evidence from Micro-Data." Journal of Monetary Economics. (forthcoming)
- Crucini, Mario J., Chris I. Telmer, and Marios Zachariadis. 2005. "Understanding European Real Exchange Rates." American Economic Review, vol. 95, no. 3, pp. 724–738.
- Dumas, B. 1992. "Dynamic Equilibrium and the Real Exchange Rate in a Spatially Separated World." Review of Financial Studies, vol. 5, pp. 153–180.
- Engel, Charles and John H. Rogers. 1996. "How Wide is the Border?" American Economic Review, vol. 86, pp. 1112–1125.
- Hummels, D. 1999a. "Toward a Geography of Trade Costs." University of Chicago, Graduate School of Business. Mimeo. (January)

- Obstfeld, Maurice and Kenneth Rogoff. 2000. "The Six Major Puzzles in International Macroeconomics: Is There a Common Cause?" In Ben S. Bernanke and Kenneth Rogoff eds. NBER Macroeconomics Annual 2000. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Sercu, Piet., Raman Uppal, and C. Van Hulle. 1995. "The Exchange Rate in the Presence of Transaction Costs: Implications for Tests of Purchasing Power Parity." Journal of Finance, vol. 50, pp. 1309– 1319.

## Appendix

#### Table 1. Parameter Values

Benchmark model	
Inverse of intertemporal elasticity of substitution	$\sigma = 5.0$
Expenditure share on the nontraded good	$\alpha = 0.7$
Transaction cost	$\tau = 0.1$

	Observed data		Model without		Model with	
			nontraded good		nontraded good	
	Volatility	Persistence	Volatility	Persistence	Volatility	Persistence
Australia	0.096	0.595	0.017	0.341	0.107	0.688
Belgium	0.139	0.687	0.017	0.323	0.090	0.698
Canada	0.058	0.775	0.017	0.504	0.080	0.595
Denmark	0.124	0.671	0.016	0.372	0.077	0.560
Finland	0.119	0.644	0.018	0.319	0.106	0.589
France	0.118	0.602	0.016	0.375	0.069	0.486
Greece	0.102	0.632	0.017	0.362	0.104	0.626
Japan	0.108	0.556	0.017	0.406	0.106	0.780
Korea	0.102	0.716	0.018	0.530	0.155	0.784
Norway	0.096	0.669	0.017	0.503	0.081	0.554
Sweden	0.123	0.690	0.018	0.487	0.078	0.539
U.K.	0.104	0.640	0.017	0.430	0.095	0.540
Average	0.107	0.656	0.017	0.412	0.096	0.620

#### Table 2. Simulation Results for The Model

		Data	$\sigma = 3$	$\sigma = 4$	$\sigma = 5$	$\sigma = 6$	$\sigma = 7$
Volatility	Australia	0.096	0.080	0.096	0.107	0.116	0.122
2	Belgium	0.139	0.067	0.080	0.090	0.097	0.104
	Canada	0.058	0.060	0.072	0.080	0.087	0.093
	Denmark	0.124	0.056	0.068	0.077	0.084	0.090
	Finland	0.119	0.081	0.095	0.106	0.114	0.120
	France	0.118	0.049	0.060	0.069	0.076	0.081
	Greece	0.102	0.079	0.094	0.104	0.112	0.119
	Japan	0.108	0.081	0.095	0.106	0.115	0.121
	Korea	0.102	0.122	0.141	0.155	0.166	0.174
	Norway	0.096	0.060	0.072	0.081	0.089	0.094
	Sweden	0.123	0.059	0.069	0.078	0.084	0.089
	U.K.	0.104	0.070	0.084	0.095	0.103	0.109
	Average	0.107	0.072	0.086	0.096	0.104	0.110
Persistence	Australia	0.595	0.692	0.691	0.688	0.684	0.680
	Belgium	0.687	0.694	0.698	0.698	0.698	0.698
	Canada	0.775	0.607	0.601	0.595	0.590	0.586
	Denmark	0.671	0.569	0.565	0.560	0.557	0.554
	Finland	0.644	0.591	0.591	0.589	0.588	0.587
	France	0.602	0.492	0.490	0.486	0.481	0.475
	Greece	0.632	0.632	0.629	0.626	0.622	0.619
	Japan	0.556	0.783	0.781	0.780	0.779	0.778
	Korea	0.716	0.788	0.787	0.784	0.783	0.781
	Norway	0.669	0.569	0.560	0.554	0.549	0.546
	Sweden	0.690	0.553	0.546	0.539	0.534	0.530
	U.K.	0.640	0.551	0.545	0.540	0.535	0.531
	Average	0.656	0.627	0.624	0.620	0.617	0.614

## Table 3. The Sensitivity Analysis for Intertemporal Elasticity of Substitution

		Data	$\tau = 0.1$	$\tau = 0.3$	$\tau = 0.5$
Volatility	Australia	0.096	0.107	0.146	0.152
	Belgium	0.139	0.090	0.127	0.132
	Canada	0.058	0.080	0.122	0.128
	Denmark	0.124	0.077	0.104	0.106
	Finland	0.119	0.106	0.161	0.179
	France	0.118	0.069	0.087	0.088
	Greece	0.102	0.104	0.151	0.161
	Japan	0.108	0.106	0.151	0.161
	Korea	0.102	0.155	0.218	0.245
	Norway	0.096	0.081	0.116	0.121
	Sweden	0.123	0.078	0.126	0.137
	U.K.	0.104	0.095	0.131	0.136
	Average	0.107	0.096	0.137	0.146
Persistence	Australia	0.595	0.688	0.686	0.686
	Belgium	0.687	0.698	0.671	0.668
	Canada	0.775	0.595	0.620	0.621
	Denmark	0.671	0.560	0.571	0.571
	Finland	0.644	0.589	0.566	0.568
	France	0.602	0.486	0.494	0.493
	Greece	0.632	0.626	0.631	0.635
	Japan	0.556	0.780	0.773	0.777
	Korea	0.716	0.784	0.776	0.779
	Norway	0.669	0.554	0.585	0.590
	Sweden	0.690	0.539	0.573	0.582
	U.K.	0.640	0.540	0.557	0.561
	Average	0.656	0.620	0.625	0.628

Table 4. The Sensitivity Analysis for Transaction Cost

		Data	$\alpha = 0.6$	$\alpha = 0.7$	$\alpha = 0.8$
Volatility	Australia	0.096	0.095	0.107	0.125
	Belgium	0.139	0.082	0.090	0.102
	Canada	0.058	0.077	0.080	0.088
	Denmark	0.124	0.074	0.077	0.085
	Finland	0.119	0.094	0.106	0.125
	France	0.118	0.068	0.069	0.073
	Greece	0.102	0.093	0.104	0.122
	Japan	0.108	0.094	0.106	0.125
	Korea	0.102	0.130	0.155	0.192
	Norway	0.096	0.077	0.081	0.091
	Sweden	0.123	0.076	0.078	0.0.84
	U.K.	0.104	0.086	0.095	0.109
	Average	0.107	0.087	0.096	0.110
Persistence	Australia	0.595	0.641	0.688	0.718
	Belgium	0.687	0.611	0.698	0.761
	Canada	0.775	0.575	0.595	0.612
	Denmark	0.671	0.519	0.560	0.595
	Finland	0.644	0.526	0.589	0.636
	France	0.602	0.458	0.486	0.510
	Greece	0.632	0.579	0.626	0.655
	Japan	0.556	0.713	0.780	0.824
	Korea	0.716	0.758	0.784	0.798
	Norway	0.669	0.536	0.554	0.572
	Sweden	0.690	0.511	0.539	0.564
	U.K.	0.640	0.514	0.540	0.562
	Average	0.656	0.578	0.620	0.651

 Table 5. The Sensitivity Analysis for The Expenditure Share

 on The Nontraded Goods

#### List of KIEP Publications (2001-08.09)

#### Working Papers

- 08-06 Real Exchange Rate Dynamics in the Presence of Nontraded Goods and Transaction Costs Inkoo Lee and Jonghyup Shin
- 08-05 Eurasian Economic Community (EurAsEC): Legal Aspects of Regional Trade Integration Sherzod Shadikhodjaev
- 08-04 The Impact of Foreign Direct Investment on Economic Growth: A Case Study of Ireland Kyuntae Kim and Hokyung Bang
- 08-03 Flexible BBC Exchange Rate System and Exchange rate Cooperation in East Asia Yen Kyun Wang
- 08-02 FDI Inflows, Exports and Economic Growth in First and Second Generation ANIEs: Panel data Causality Analysis

Yongkul Won, Frank S.T. Hsiao, and Doo Yong Yang

- 08-01 National Treatment on Internal Taxation: Revisiting GATT Article III:2 Sherzod Shadikhodjaev
- 07-08 Experimental Economic Approaches on Trade Negotiations

Hankyoung Sung

- 07-07 What Kinds of Countries Have More Free Trade Partner Countries? : Count Regression Analysis Jung Hur and Backhoon Song
- 07-06 Understanding Wage Inequality: Trade, Technology, and Location Chul Chung and Bonggeun Kim
- 07-05 An Empirical Assessment of a Tradeoff Between FDI and Exports Hongshik Lee and Joon Hyung Lee
- 07-04 A Roadmap for East Asian Monetary Integration: The Necessary First Step Kyung Tae Lee and Deok Ryong Yoon
- 07-03 The Determinants of Cross-border M&As: the Role of Institutions and Financial Development in Gravity Model Hea-Jung Hyun and Hyuk Hwang Kim
- 07-02 Financial Liberalization, Crises, and Economic Growth

Inkoo Lee and Jong-Hyup Shin

07-01 Determinants of Intra-FDI Inflows in East Asia: Does Regional Economic Integration Affect Intra-FDI? Jung Sik Kim and Yonghyup Oh

A List of all KIEP publications is available at: http://www.kiep.go.kr

- 06-03 Regional Currency Unit in Asia: Property and Perspective Woosik Moon, Yeongseop Rhee and Deokryong Yoon
- 06-02 Does FDI Mode of Entry Matter for Economic Performance?: The Case of Korea Seong-Bong Lee and Mikyung Yun
- 06-01 Investment Stagnation in East Asia and Policy Implications for Sustainable Growth Hak K. Pyo
- 05-06 Exchange Rate System in India: Recent Reforms, Central Bank Policies and Fundamental Determinants of the Rupee-Dollar Rates Vivek Jayakumar, Tae Hwan Yoo, and Yoon Jung Choi
- 05-05 Exchange Rates, Shocks and Inter-dependency in East Asia: Lessons from a Multinational Model Sophie Saglio, Yonghyup Oh, and Jacques Mazier
- 05-04 A Roadmap for the Asian Exchange Rate Mechanism Gongpil Choi and Deok Ryong Yoon
- 05-03 Have Efficiency and Integration Progressed in Real Capital Markets of Europe and North America During 1988-1999 Yonghyup Oh
- 05-02 Financial Market Integration in East Asia: Regional or Global? Jongkyou Jeon, Yonghyup Oh, and Doo Yong Yang
- 05-01 Natural Resources, Governance, and Economic Growth in Africa Bokyeong Park and Kang-Kook Lee
- 04-14 Income Distribution, Intra-industry Trade and Foreign Direct Investment in East Asia Chan-Hyun Sohn and Zhaoyong Zhang
- 04-13 Location Choice of Multinational Companies in China: Korean and Japanese Companies Sung Jin Kang and Hongshik Lee
- 04-12 Geographic Concentration and Industry Characteristics: An Empirical Investigation of East Asia

Soon-Chan Park, Hongshik Lee, and Mikyung Yun

- 04-11 Marginal Intra-industry Trade, Trade-induced Adjustment Costs and the Choice of FTA Partners Chan-Hyun Sohn and Hyun-Hoon Lee
- 04-10 Exchange Rate Volatilities and Time-varying Risk Premium in East Asia Chae-Shick Chung and Doo Yong Yang
- 04-09 North Korea's Economic Reform Under An International Framework Jong-Woon Lee

04-08 International Capital Market Imperfections: Evidence from Geographical Features of International Consumption Risk Sharing

Yonghyup Oh

- 04-07 Impacts of Exchange Rates on Employment in Three Asian Countries: Korea, Malaysia, and the Philippines Wanjoong Kim and Terrence Kinal
- 04-06 Finance and Economic Development in Korea Yung Chul Park, Wonho Song, and Yunjong Wang
- 04-05 Expansion Strategies of South Korean Multinationals Hongshik Lee
- 04-04 E-Finance Development in Korea Choong Yong Ahn and Doo Yong Yang
- 04-03 Complementarity of Horizontal and Vertical Multinational Activities Sungil Bae and Tae Hwan Yoo
- 04-02 Regional vs. Global Risk Sharing in East Asia Soyoung Kim, Sunghyun H. Kim, and Yunjong Wang
- 04-01 The Macroeconomic Consequences of Terrorism S. Brock Blomberg, Gregory D. Hess, and Athanasios Orphanides
- 03-17 Trade Structure and Economic Growth A New Look at the Relationship between Trade and Growth Chan-Hyun Sohn and Hongshik Lee
- 03-16 Specialization and Geographical Concentration in East Asia: Trends and Industry Characteristics Soon-Chan Park
- 03-15 Corporate Restructuring in Korea: Empirical Evaluation of Corporate Restructuring Programs Choong Yong Ahn and Doo Yong Yang
- 03-14 Intra-industry Trade and Productivity Structure: Application of a Cournot-Ricardian Model E. Young Song and Chan-Hyun Sohn
- 03-13 Financial Integration and Consumption Risk Sharing in East Asia Soyoung Kim, Sunghyun H. Kim, and Yunjong Wang
- 03-12 The Decision to Invest Abroad: The Case of Korean Multinationals

Hongshik Lee

- 03-11 Exchange Rate Uncertainty and Free Trade Agreement between Japan and Korea Kwanho Shin and Yunjong Wang
- 03-10 Finance and Economic Development in East Asia Yung Chul Park, Wonho Song, and Yunjong Wang

Chang-Soo Lee

- 03-08 Potential Impact of Changes in Consumer Preferences on Trade in the Korean and World Motor Vehicle Industry Sang-yirl Nam and Junsok Yang
- 03-07 Macroeconomic Adjustments and the Real Economy In Korea and Malaysia Since 1997 Zainal-Abidin Mahani, Kwanho Shin, and Yunjong Wang
- 03-06 Fear of Inflation: Exchange Rate Pass-Through in East Asia Sammo Kang and Yunjong Wang
- 03-05 The Effects of Capital Outflows from Neighboring Countries on a Home Country's Terms of Trade and Real Exchange Rate: The Case of East Asia Sammo Kang
- 03-04 Dynamics of Open Economy Business Cycle Models: The Case of Korea Hyungdo Ahn and Sunghyun H. Kim
- 03-03 International Capital Flows and Business Cycles in the Asia Pacific Region Soyoung Kim, Sunghyun H. Kim, and Yunjong Wang
- 03-02 How to Mobilize the Asian Savings within the Region: Securitization and Credit Enhancement for the Development of East Asia's Bond Market Gyutaeg Oh, Daekeun Park, Jaeha Park, and Doo Yong Yang
- 03-01 Trade Integration and Business Cycle Synchronization in East Asia Kwanho Shin and Yunjong Wang
- 02-17 How far has Regional Integration Deepened?-Evidence from Trade in Services Soon-Chan Park
- 02-16 Korea's FDI into China: Determinants of the Provincial Distribution Chang-Soo Lee and Chang-Kyu Lee
- 02-15 Measuring Tariff Equivalents in Cross-Border Trade in Services Soon-Chan Park
- 02-14 How FTAs Affect Income Levels of Member Countries: Converge or Diverge? Chan-Hyun Sohn
- 02-13 An Examination of the Formation of Natural Trading Blocs in East Asia Chang-Soo Lee and Soon-Chan Park
- 02-12 Has Trade Intensity in ASEAN+3 Really Increased? Evidence from a Gravity Analysis Heungchong KIM

02-11	Exchange Rate Regimes and Monetary Independence in East Asia Chang-Jin Kim and Jong-Wha Lee
02-10	Bailout and Conglomeration Se-Jik Kim
02-09	A Dynamic Analysis of a Korea-Japan Free Trade Area: Simulations with the G-Cubed Asia-Pacific Model Warwick J. McKibbin, Jong-Wha Lee, and Inkyo Cheong
02-08	Trade Integration and Business Cycle Co-movements: the Case of Korea with Other Asian Countries Kwanho Shin and Yunjong Wang
02-07	Korea's FDI Outflows: Choice of Locations and Effect on Trade Chang-Soo Lee
02-06	Hanging Together: Exchange Rate Dynamics between Japan and Korea Sammo Kang, Yunjong Wang, and Deok Ryong Yoon
02-05	Interdependent Specialization and International Growth Effect of Geographical Agglomeration Soon-chan Park
02-04	Who Gains Benefits from Tax Incentives for Foreign Direct Investment in Korea? Seong-Bong Lee
02-03	New Evidence on High Interest Rate Policy During the Korean Crisis Chae-Shick Chung and Se-Jik Kim
02-02	A Framework for Exchange Rate Policy in Korea Michael Dooley, Rudi Dornbusch, and Yung Chul Park
02-01	Macroeconomic Effects of Capital Account Liberalization: The Case of Korea Soyoung Kim, Sunghyun H. Kim, and Yunjong Wang
01-05	Aggregate Shock, Capital Market Opening, and Optimal Bailout Se-Jik Kim and Ivailo Izvorski
01-04	Impact of FDI on Competition: The Korean Experience Mikyung Yun and Sungmi Lee
01-03	Is APEC Moving Towards the Bogor Goal? Kyung Tae Lee and Inkyo Cheong
01-02	Impact of China's Accession to the WTO and Policy Implications for Asia- Pacific Developing Economies Wook Chae and Hongyul Han
01-01	Does the Gravity Model Fit Korea's Trade Patterns?: Implications for Korea's FTA Policy and North-South Korean Trade Chan-Hyun Sohn and Jinna Yoon

## KIEP

KIEP is on-line. Access http://www.kiep.go.kr for details of our latest publications.

## KOREA INSTITUTE FOR INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC POLICY ORDER FORM

- Fax number: 822-3460-1144
- Address:

Publication Section, Department of Information & Library Services

Korea Institute For International Economic Policy

108 Yangjaedaero, Seocho-gu, Seoul 137-747 Korea

- E-mail: publications@kiep.go.kr
- Please call: 822-3460-1142 if you have any questions.

#### ALL ORDERS MUST BE PREPAID

Date of Order	
Name: Mr/Ms	
Department/Institution	
Street Address	City
State / Post Code	Country
Telephone	Fax
E-mail	

# 

Quantity	Title/Author/Series N	lo. ISBN	Price
• Total Cost of B	ook(s) is US\$	·	
Cost of Postage	e is US\$		
		•	
Postage charge per copy is US\$	per copy is US\$ 5 within Asia 9. All order will be shipped b	. For all other countries, the po y air mail.	ostage charge
Postage charge per copy is US\$	per copy is US\$ 5 within Asia 9. All order will be shipped b	y air mail.	ostage charge
Postage charge per copy is US\$	per copy is US\$ 5 within Asia 9. All order will be shipped b PAY ble to KIEP)	YMENT	ostage charge ney Order
Postage charge per copy is US\$ Check (paya Visa Card	per copy is US\$ 5 within Asia 9. All order will be shipped b PA ble to KIEP)	YMENT	ostage charge ney Order
Postage charge per copy is US\$ Check (paya Visa Card Card Nu	per copy is US\$ 5 within Asia 9. All order will be shipped b PAY ble to KIEP) mber	A. For all other countries, the po y air mail. YMENT	ostage charge ney Order
<ul> <li>Postage charge per copy is US\$</li> <li>Check (paya</li> <li>Visa Card</li> <li>Card Nu</li> <li>Expiry d</li> </ul>	per copy is US\$ 5 within Asia 9. All order will be shipped b PA ble to KIEP) mber ate	YMENT	ostage charge
Postage charge per copy is US\$ Check (paya Visa Card Card Nu Expiry d Signatu	per copy is US\$ 5 within Asia 9. All order will be shipped by PAY ble to KIEP) mber ate	A. For all other countries, the provide the provide the provide the provide the provide the provided the prov	ostage charge
Postage charge per copy is US\$ Check (paya Visa Card Card Nu Expiry d Signatur	per copy is US\$ 5 within Asia 9. All order will be shipped by PA ble to KIEP) mber ate re	YMENT  Master Card	ostage charge

Type of Membership	Annual Fee*		
(One-Year)	Institutions	Individuals	
All Publications (60-70 titles, including periodicals, annually)	US\$ 500	US\$ 250	

\* Airmail charges are included. \* Subject to change without prior notice.



108 Yangjaedaero, Seocho-gu, Seoul 137-747 Tel. (822)3460-1142 Fax. (822)3460-1144

### Real Exchange Rate Dynamics in the Presence of Nontraded Goods and Transaction Costs

#### Inkoo Lee and Jonghyup Shin

This paper studies the role of nontraded goods and transaction costs in accounting for the puzzling behavior of the real exchange rate. In particular, we develop a simple general equilibrium model and evaluate the quantitative performance of the model in replicating the dynamic properties of the real exchange rate.

The simulation results show that introducing both the transaction costs and nontraded goods in an otherwise standard model dramatically improve its ability to rationalize observed real exchange rate dynamic properties. The benchmark model matches 95% of the persistence and 90% of the volatility of the real exchange rate. In addition, the sensitivity analysis shows that our model can rationalize more than 97% of both persistence and volatility of the real exchange rate.

Our analysis suggests that the purchasing price parity puzzle can naturally arise in the presence of transaction costs and nontraded goods, even under the assumption of a flexible price market.



108 Yangjaedaero, Seocho-gu, Seoul 137-747, Korea P.O.Box 235, Seocho, Seoul 137-602, Korea Tel 02-3460-1001, 1114 / Fax 02-3460-1122, 1199 http://www.kiep.go.kr

